
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

 
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 
       ) 

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370 
v.      ) 

       ) ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE 
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, ) RELIEF, DECLARATORY 
       )  JUDGMENT, AND 
  Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION, 
 v.      ) WIND UP, AND ACCOUNTING 
       ) 
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,   ) 
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and ) 
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,   ) 
       ) 
 Additional Counterclaim Defendants. ) Consolidated With 
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the  ) 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 
       ) CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-287 
     Plaintiff,  ) 
 v.      ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND 
       ) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 
UNITED CORPORATION,    ) 
       ) 
     Defendant. ) 
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   )  CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-278 
       ) 
     Plaintiff,  )  ACTION FOR DEBT AND  
 v.      )  CONVERSION 
       ) 
FATHI YUSUF,     ) 
       )  
     Defendant. ) 

 
 

YUSUF’S RESPONSE TO HAMED’S CURRENT MOTION TO COMPEL RELATING 
TO CLAIM Y-12 – FOREIGN ACCOUNTS AND PROPERTIES 

 
 Hamed's Current Motion to Compel Relating to Yusuf Claim Y-12 – Foreign Accounts 

and Properties is premised upon Yusuf’s alleged failure to fully respond to Hamed Interrogatory 
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No. 30, which has been previously briefed and supplemented.  Hamed also seeks to compel as to 

Interrogatories 33 and 34 and Request to Produce 30, 31 and 36.      

A. Interrogatory 30  

Yusuf shows that he has fully and sufficiently responded to Interrogatory 30, to wit:  

1.  On December 30, 2018, Yusuf provided a Response to the original Motion to 

Compel, attaching some 90+ pages of documents.  See Exhibit A – Yusuf’s 

December 30, 2018 Response to MTC as to Y-12.  

2. Following the Order to Compel to further supplement dated January 8, 2019, 

Yusuf supplemented his response filing:  

a. January 15, 2019 Supplemental Responses to Hamed’s 

Discovery.  See Exhibit B – Yusuf’s Supplemental Discovery 

and Exhibits attached thereto.  Therein Yusuf detailed the 

chronology as to the Jordanian properties.  

b. January 17 and 18, 2019 Supplemental Responses to Hamed 

Discovery. See Exhibit C – Yusuf’s Supplemental Discovery 

and Exhibits attached thereto.  Therein Yusuf detailed the 

information as to the Jordanian Accounts that are the subject of 

Y-12, upon which the Interrogatory seeks information, 

including the name on the account, whether it appeared to be 

open, the amount in the last statement and the statements which 

would reflect the deposits and withdrawals of which Yusuf has 

knowledge.  The January 18, 2019 supplementation was to 

correct a typographical error from the submission the day 
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before.  All of the account information was identified by Bates 

numbers which had been previously produced in this litigation. 

The documents were again reproduced, and reflect the name on 

the account, the information as to the amount known in the 

account, deposit and withdrawal information and the last 

known balance.  This information is also included in the 

supporting documentation for the BDO report bearing 

HAMED bates numbering and fully labeled therein originally 

produced in 2016.   

3. On December 18, 2020, Yusuf again attempted to clarify the information 

previously provided as requested by Counsel for Hamed.  To that end, Yusuf 

provided an excel spreadsheet with the information in the form requested by 

Hamed as to the Jordanian Property.  See Exhibit D – Yusuf’s 

Supplementation from December 2020.  Yusuf also noted that this 

information was previously provided in narrative form in the January 2019 

Supplementation.  Id. In addition, Yusuf offered to congeal the previously 

identified and produced bates numbers as to the Foreign Accounts.  Id. 

Although it does not appear that the congealed pdf was provided, the 

information had been previously identified and produced nearly a year before.  

See Exhibit C.  

It should be noted that Interrogatory 30, on its face, states that it relates to Yusuf Claim 

Y-12.  Yusuf Claim Y-12 is a claim Yusuf is making against Hamed for failing to properly 
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account for funds placed in certain foreign accounts in his name or that of his sons. Specifically, 

Yusuf claimed:   

…Based on Yusuf’s review of documentation available to date and 
information discovered following the FBI raid, Yusuf claims that Hamed 
(either individually or through his sons or agents) failed to properly invest all 
Partnership funds with which he had been entrusted and failed to properly 
account for such funds.  As a result, Hamed either breached his fiduciary duties 
to the Partnership by failing to properly safeguard, account for, and invest 
these funds as agreed between the Partners or he converted them for his own 
personal use or the personal use of his family members.  

 
Yusuf has repeatedly raised these claims with Hamed and his agent, 

Waleed Hamed, but has received either unsatisfactory or no responses to 
questions as to how the funds were spent.  The misappropriations or failures to 
account by Hamed and his agents of which Yusuf is presently aware include:  

 
a. Hamed and his sons have failed to account for the 

Partnership funds held in various foreign bank accounts 
from 1996 to date including but not limited to, the 
accounts identified in Exhibit K.   
 
…  
 

See Exhibit A (1) – Relevant Excerpts from Yusuf’s Original Accounting Claim at pages 

11-14.       

Hence, the claim is one in which it is Yusuf, who is seeking an explanation as to the 

accounts from Hamed because he does not know what happened to the funds that were placed in 

these accounts.  The foreign accounts for which Yusuf was seeking an explanation from Hamed 

were identified at the outset of the claims in the attached “Exhibit K” to the Original Yusuf 

Claims and his Amended Claims.  See Exhibit E – The Foreign Accounts for which Yusuf 

sought clarification from Hamed in his Original and Amended Accounting Claims listed as 

Exhibit K thereto.  Yusuf inquired of Hamed as to the status of the various accounts and 

received inconclusive responses.  See Exhibit F - Hamed’s Responses to Yusuf’s 
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Interrogatories.   Yusuf will further inquire regarding these accounts at the depositions as to Y-

12.  However, Yusuf has provided the information that he has relating to the subject accounts 

(for which he is seeking explanation from Hamed).  Yusuf has no additional information than 

what has already been produced in the case as to these accounts as identified above.  

 Somehow, Hamed attempts to argue that the interrogatory must have information relating 

to various foreign accounts for Yusuf.  However, Y-12 does not relate to any foreign accounts 

beyond those on the initial list, which has been further limited.  Hamed has made no allegation 

that Yusuf took funds and deposited them into foreign bank accounts for which he has no 

knowledge or information.  In fact, of the 164 claims made by Hamed (H-1 thru H-164), there is 

no claim, unclear accounting record or issue relating to any accounts by Yusuf or a Yusuf family 

member relating to a foreign account.  Hence, there is no basis for Yusuf to provide any 

additional information beyond that which has already been produced in this case. 

B. Interrogatories 33 and 34 and Requests to Produce 30, 31 and 36 

 As to the additional interrogatories and requests for production, Yusuf stands by his 

objections.  In essence, Interrogatories 33 and 34 seek to discover any and all assets, bank or 

investment accounts and any business for which Yusuf or his family have a greater than 49% 

ownership interest.  Requests to Produce 30 seeks all the tax returns for Yusuf and his sons.  

Requests to Produce 31 and 36 seeks all statements relating to any financial and investment 

accounts for Yusuf and his sons and any business in which they have a greater than 50% 

ownership interest.  Yusuf’s objection to Interrogatory 33 and 34 and Requests to Produce 30, 31 

and 36 has been that they improperly:  

…seek personal information when there have been no allegation that monies 
were removed from the partnership by any member of the Yusuf family which 
were not otherwise disclosed to the Hamed.  Furthermore, unlike the Hameds, 
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the Yusuf’s had sources of income other than the partnership which would 
account for income and assets in excess of the funds acknowledged to have 
been with drawn from the partnership.  Hence, the discovery is irrelevant 
because “the proposed discovery is not relevant to any party’s claim or 
defense.”  V.I. R. Civ. P. 26 (b)(2)(C)(iii).   

 
Yusuf has made claims that Hamed (thru his son Waleed Hamed) misappropriated funds.  The 

Master has already found, Waleed Hamed did misappropriate funds from Yusuf and then made a 

misrepresentation about the extent of those misappropriations.  In the Order dated May 3, 2020:  

 
The Master finds that: (1) there was a misrepresentation by Hamed—to wit, 
Hamed’s representation that there are no other misappropriation of funds by 
Hamed but other misappropriation of funds by Hamed were discovered, (2) the 
misrepresentation was fraudulent or material—to wit, it was material because 
“it would be likely to induce a reasonable person to manifest his assent” or 
“the maker [Hamed] knows “that it would be likely to induce the recipient 
[Yusuf] to do so”, (3) the misrepresentation induced the Yusuf to enter into the 
Original Agreement, and (4) that Yusuf’s reliance on the misrepresentation 
was reasonable. As such, Yusuf was allowed to rescind the Original 
Agreement on the basis of material misrepresentation   
  

See May 3, 2020 Order, p. 33.  At no point in this case or in the discussions between Yusuf, 

Hamed and Waleed relating to misappropriations prior to the suit, was there ever an allegation 

that Yusuf or a member of his family had misappropriated partnership funds without the 

knowledge or consent of the Hameds.  Surely had Hamed any belief or suspicion that Yusuf or 

his family had so engaged, he would have raised the issue in 2010 or 2011 with the meeting 

relating to Hamed’s misappropriate was being discussed, when the suit was filed or when 

enumerating his 164 “claims”.  He did not.  Hence, the attempt to secure the financial 

information of Yusuf is not relevant to any parties’ claim or defense and is not discoverable. 

Conclusion 
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 For the foregoing reasons, Yusuf shows that his response to Interrogatory No. 30 are 

sufficient and that his objections to Interrogatories 33 and 34 and Requests to Produce 30, 31 and 

36 are proper.    

   

       

 

        Respectfully submitted, 

DUDLEY NEWMAN FEUERZEIG, LLP 
 
 
 

DATED:  August 6, 2021        By: s/Charlotte K. Perrell       
      CHARLOTTE K. PERRELL (V.I. Bar No. 1281) 
      Law House 1000 Frederiksberg Gade 
      P.O. Box 756 
      St. Thomas, VI  00804-0756 
      Telephone: (340) 715-4422 
      Telefax: (340) 715-4400 
      E-Mail: cperrell@dnfvi.com  
  
      Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on this 6th day of August, 2021, I caused the foregoing Yusuf’s 
Opposition to Hamed’s Current Motion to Compel Relating to Yusuf Claim 
Y-12, which complies with the page and word limitations of Rule 6-1(e), to be served upon the 
following via the Case Anywhere docketing system:  
 

Joel H. Holt, Esq. 
LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT 
Quinn House - Suite 2 
2132 Company Street 
Christiansted, St. Croix  
U.S. Virgin Islands  00820 
E-Mail: holtvi.plaza@gmail.com  
 

Carl J. Hartmann, III, Esq. 
5000 Estate Coakley Bay – Unit L-6 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00820 
E-Mail:  carl@carlhartmann.com 
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Mark W. Eckard, Esq. 
ECKARD, P.C. 
P.O. Box 24849 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands 00824 
E-Mail:  mark@markeckard.com  

Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq. 
JEFFREY B.C. MOORHEAD, P.C. 
C.R.T. Brow Building – Suite 3 
1132 King Street 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 
E-Mail:  jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com 

 
The Honorable Edgar D. Ross 
E-Mail:  edgarrossjudge@hotmail.com 
 

 

 
and via U.S. Mail to: 
 

The Honorable Edgar D. Ross 
Master 
P.O. Box 5119 
Kingshill, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands  00851 

Alice Kuo 
5000 Estate Southgate 
Christiansted, St. Croix 
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

 
       s/Charlotte K. Perrell    
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS  

Exhibit A –  Yusuf’s December 30, 2018 Response to MTC as to Y-12 

Exhibit B –  Yusuf’s January 15, 2019 Supplemental Discovery and Exhibits 
attached thereto 

 
Exhibit C –  Yusuf’s January 17 and 18, 2019 Supplemental Discovery and 

Exhibits attached thereto 
 
Exhibit D –  Yusuf’s Supplementation from December 2020 
 
Exhibit E –  The Foreign Accounts for which Yusuf sought clarification from 

Hamed in his Original and Amended Accounting Claims listed as 
Exhibit K thereto 

 
Exhibit F -  Hamed’s Responses to Yusuf’s Interrogatories. 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) 

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370 

v.      ) 

       ) ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE 

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, ) RELIEF, DECLARATORY 

       )  JUDGMENT, AND 

  Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION, 

 v.      ) WIND UP, AND ACCOUNTING 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,   ) 

MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and ) 

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,   ) 

 Additional Counterclaim Defendants. ) Consolidated With 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the  ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-287 

     Plaintiff,  ) 

 v.      ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND 

       ) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

UNITED CORPORATION,    ) 

       ) 

     Defendant. ) 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   )  CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-278 

       ) 

     Plaintiff,  )  ACTION FOR DEBT AND  

 v.      )  CONVERSION 

       ) 

FATHI YUSUF,     ) 

     Defendant. ) 

FATHI YUSUF and      ) 

UNITED CORPORATION,    )  

       ) CIVIL NO. ST-17-CV-384 

Plaintiffs,                    )  

            ) ACTION TO SET ASIDE 

 v.      ) FRAUDULENT TRANSFERS  

       )  

THE ESTATE OF MOHAMMAD HAMED,  ) 

Waleed Hamed as Executor of the Estate of   ) 

Mohammad Hamed, and    ) 

THE MOHAMMAD A. HAMED LIVING TRUST,) 

       ) 

   Defendants.   ) 

__________________________________________) 
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SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES  

TO HAMED’S DISCOVERY  

 

 

 Defendant/Counterclaimants Fathi Yusuf (“Yusuf”) and United Corporation 

(“United”)(collectively, the “Defendants”) through their attorneys, Dudley, Topper and 

Feuerzeig, LLP, hereby provide their Supplemental Responses to Hamed’s Discovery as 

follows:  

1. Interrogatory No 3 – Relating to H-1, Dorthea Condo 

 Dorthea Condo transaction.  Mr. Yusuf confirms the following:   

1. I was to receive the proceeds under the sales contract for the sale of the Dorthea Condo.  

2. The full amount of $1.5 million for the sale was received. 

3. I am currently in possession of $1,350,000 of the total amount of those proceeds in the 

form of another asset.  The remaining $150,000, I directed the purchaser to pay directly 

to the Batch Plant to make up for what Hamed had received 10 years earlier but had 

failed to deliver to the Batch Plant.  Attached is the document that reflects that payment 

(FY015136).  The breakdown is:  $750,000 for Yusuf (1/2 of the $1,500,000) and 

$600,000 for Hamed (total due $750,000 (his ½ of the 1,500,000) minus $150,000 paid to 

the Batch Plant from Hamed’s portion).    

4. I believe that I provided the handwritten “Dorothia” document to Willy but I do not recall 

when.   

5. It is my belief that the principle payments were received prior to 2006.  However, I 

cannot say this for sure. 
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2. Interrogatory No. 29 and Requests for Production of Documents No.s 21 and 34 

– Relating to Y-2 and 4 relating to rent for Bays 5 and 8 

Yusuf and United provide the following supplemental response to Interrogatory #29 and 

Requests for Production of Documents #21 and #34:  

 United has made a claim for past due rent for Bays 5 and 8 which were leased by Plaza 

Extra East at various points in time and utilized as extra storage.  Yusuf set forth in his 

Declaration dated August 12, 2014 the square footage of each Bay, the period of the rental and 

the price per square foot.  Again, Yusuf incorporates his August 12, 2014 Declaration together 

with the attached Chart as responsive to Interrogatory #29.  In addition, attached is a floor plan 

of the United Shopping Center reflecting the location of Plaza Extra East and the other 

commercial/retail storefronts referred to as Bays (FY015135). 

A. Bay 5 – Period May 1, 1994 through July 31, 2001  

 

Bay 5 is close to the entrance of Plaza Extra East and is one of the most desirable 

storefronts in the United Shopping Center given its location and visibility.   From 1987 to the 

time of the fire in 1992, Bay 5 was rented to a pharmacy.  There is no copy of the lease for this 

period as it was destroyed in the fire.  During this 1987-1992 timeframe, Plaza Extra East was 

utilizing a series of trailers as warehouse space to provide additional storage for inventory.   

There were eight trailers, four on the bottom and four on top.  However, this storage system of 

trailers was very cumbersome and inefficient to access and effectively utilize.  As Plaza Extra 

East was being rebuilt and then reopening, it needed additional space for storage which was 

easier to access.  

As described more fully below, Plaza Extra East began utilizing Bay 8 for storage upon 

reopening in May, 1994.  However, additional space was still needed.  Mike Yusuf and Waleed 

Hamed broke through a cement block wall between Bay 4 and 5 to utilize the space in Bay 5 for 

sodas.  They made an opening big enough for the forklift to go through.  Their efforts 

demonstrate knowledge by Hamed that the space was being used.  The space was utilized by 

Plaza Extra East from May 1, 1994 through July 31, 2001 for storage and primarily for the 

storage of sodas.  Mr. Yusuf was not happy to discover that this particular Bay was needed for 

storage space because he would have preferred the space to be used as a retail store.  In a 

conversation with Waleed Hamed, Mr. Yusuf explained that he would prefer to use the space to 

lease to retail but that if Plaza Extra East was going to use it for storage and needed the space, 

then it would have to pay rent, to which Waleed Hamed responded that he agreed.  As Yusuf was 

in charge of setting the price and collecting the rent, he set the price at the same amount as other 

commercial tenants for that space.  As with the rent for Bay 1, United allowed the rent to accrue 

so as to provide the partnership with greater liquidity.  Waleed Hamed agreed to this 

arrangement.      
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At some point in the first half of 2001, Mr. Yusuf explained that Plaza Extra East cannot 

keep using Bay 5 for warehouse space as it is better utilized as retail space.  It was helpful to the 

partnership to have other retail stores in the United Shopping Center which drives more 

customers to the area and then into Plaza Extra East.  However, using such visible space for 

storage did not help increase the traffic to the center and by extension to Plaza Extra East.  As 

Bay 5 is a highly visible space, the better use of the space was for retail.  Beginning on 

September 1, 2001, United leased Bay 5 to a retail tenant operating as “Diamond Girl.”  A copy 

of the lease is attached to demonstrate the end of the period that Plaza Extra East was utilizing 

Bay 5. (Bates FY015138-75).  The lease with Diamond Girl was for ten years.  In December 

2011, Diamond Girl entered into another lease with United and expanded their space to use Bay 

4 in addition to Bay 5.  A copy of that lease is also attached. (Bates FY015176-211).  These 

leases reflect the price charged for the space and the ending time period of Plaza East’s 

occupancy of Bay 5.   There is no written lease for Plaza Extra East’s use of the Bays 5 or 8, just 

as there was no written lease for the use of space to house the Plaza Extra East store.  Waleed 

Hamed agreed to this arrangement.  The total amount due for the period of rent for Bay 5 is as 

set forth in Yusuf’s August 12, 2014 Declaration for $271,875.00.     

B. Bay 8 – May 1, 1994 through September 30, 2002 (“First Bay 8 Rent”) 

 

Bay 8 is located in the corner of the shopping center and is a double bay.  It is a less 

desirable location as a retail store given the limited storefront and lack of visibility being in the 

corner of the center.        

From 1987 to the time of the fire in 1992, Bay 8 was rented to Ali’s Hardware.  

Ultimately, United had to evict Ali Hardware at some point prior to the fire.  Mike Yusuf recalls 

the scenario where the renter threw the keys to Mike as they were rebuilding the store after he 

had been evicted.  The eviction was handled by Carl Beckstedt.  Attached is an unsigned 

“Satisfaction of Judgment” reflecting the action brought against Ali Hardware for the collection 

of back rent demonstrating the date the suit was filed as 1993. (Bates FY01537).  As described 

above, the storage system of stacked trailers used by Plaza Extra East at this time was inefficient.  

As Plaza Extra East was being rebuilt, it needed the additional space for storage.   

  Following the fire, Plaza Extra East reopened in May 1994 and began utilizing Bay 8 for 

additional storage.  Given its less desirable location as a retail store, its large size and easy access 

to the back of the bay with a roll-down door, it was suitable and more feasible to use as a 

warehouse.    Bay 8 was occupied by Plaza Extra East from May 1, 1994 through September 30, 

2002.  As the space had previously been rented to a third party but was now being utilized by 

Plaza Extra East, Mr. Yusuf discussed with Waleed Hamed that Plaza Extra East would need to 

pay rent for the use of this additional space and he agreed.  As with the rent for Bay 1, United 

allowed the rent to accrue so as to provide the partnership with greater liquidity.  Waleed Hamed 

agreed to this arrangement. 
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From October 1, 2002 to April 1, 2008, the space was then rented to an entity called 

Riverdale which is a food wholesaler who was not interested in utilizing the space as retail 

operation.  A copy of the lease for Bay 8 is attached to reflect when the First Bay 8 Rent period 

ended and the amount charged for this space. (Bates FY015212-247).  The total amount due to 

United for the First Bay 8 Rent is as set forth in Yusuf’s August 12, 2014 Declaration for 

$323,515.63. 

C. April 1, 2008 through May 30, 2013 (“Second Bay 8 Rent”) 

 

When the lease with Riverdale ended, Plaza Extra East began using the space for storage.  

As with the earlier period of use and the use of Bay 5, Yusuf discussed with Waleed Hamed that 

Plaza Extra East would pay rent on the same terms as before and Waleed Hamed Agreed.  The 

total amount due to United for the Second Bay 8 Rent is as set forth in Yusuf’s August 12, 2014 

Declaration for $198,593.44.  As before, United allowed the rent for this period to accrue rather 

than demanding payment so as to allow the partnership greater liquidity. 

After May 30, 2013, United again rented Bay 8 to Riverdale or a relative of the individual 

who rented as Riverdale from that point forward.  

There are no written leases between Plaza Extra East and United as to renting Bay 5 and 

Bay 8.  At the time, the stores were all operating as United.  However, as described above Mr. 

Yusuf discussed the matter with Waleed Hamed and he agreed to pay rent for the space utilized.  

Collection of the rent was deferred for Bays 5 and 8, just as it was deferred for the Plaza Extra 

East Store.  See Yusuf Declaration of August 12, 2014, ¶8.   

 As to the period after this lawsuit was filed, United shows that Plaza Extra East continued 

to occupy the space until it was rented to the tenant associated with Riverdale.  Mr. Yusuf 

considered the partial rent payments made by the partnership as to Bay 1 as a partial payment of 

the total rent debt due which included the rent for Bays 5 and 8.  When Plaza Extra East was 

using either Bay 5 or 8, their use and occupancy was continuous during that period of time.    
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3. Interrogatory No. 30 – Relating to Y-12 Jordanian Property and Accounts 

Yusuf supplements his responses to Interrogatory No. 30:  

 Over the course of time, Mr. Yusuf, on behalf of the partnership, purchased five different 

properties in Jordan (the “Initial Five Properties”) and put in joint names of Hamed and Yusuf.  

Two of these properties are still owned by them jointly, two others were sold with the proceeds 

reinvested in a larger number (approximately 40 residential properties) and one Hamed 

transferred his interests to Mr. Yusuf pursuant to an agreement which also required the transfer 

of property in St. Thomas.     

A. Original Five Properties in Joint Name of Yusuf and Hamed 

 

Property 1:   One of the Initial Five Properties was purchased for approximately 3 million 

Jordanian pounds around 1999 (“Property 1”).  It was titled jointly in both Yusuf and 

Hamed’s name.  The parties still own it.  It is now worth approximately at least 30 

million.  There is no dispute relating to this property and it is not the subject of Yusuf’s 

Claim Y-12.  

Property 2:  Another of the Initial Five Properties was purchased for approximately 

240,000.00 Jordanian pounds (“Property 2”).  It was also titled in jointly in both names.  

Property 2 was later sold for 1 million Jordanian pounds. The proceeds from the sale of 

Property 2 and another of the Initial Five Properties were used to purchase additional 

properties more fully described below.  Property 2 is not in dispute and is no longer 

owned by the partners.   

Property 3: Another of the Initial Five Properties was purchased for 858,000.00 Jordanian 

pounds (“Property 3”).  It was also titled jointly in both names.  Subsequently after Mr. 

Yusuf determined that the Hamed’s had removed funds without disclosing their receipt, 

Mr. Yusuf and Mr. Hamed entered into an agreement where Mr. Hamed agreed to 

provide his half of this property to Mr. Yusuf dated July 18, 2011, Exhibits O and S are 

the documents that reflects that transfer and agreement.     

Property 4: Another of the Initial Five Properties was purchased for 520,000.00 Jordanian 

pounds.  As with all of the Initial Five Properties, it was put in both names.  Property 4 is 

located near an airport.  At some point, a portion of Property 4 was needed for the 

roadway near the airport and the appropriate governmental entity procured the property 

under an eminent domain basis and ultimately paid 2 million Jordanian pounds.  The 

remainder of the property was sold for 3.3 million Jordanian pounds.  The proceeds from 

these transfers of Property 4 in combination with the proceeds from the transfer of 
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Property 2 were combined and used to purchase a larger number of residential properties 

more fully described below.     

Property 5:  Another one of the Initial Five Properties was purchased in the early 1990's 

for approximately 1 million Jordanian pounds.  It too was in the joint names.  The parties 

still own this particular property.  Property 5 remains jointly owned and is not the subject 

of Yusuf’s Claim Y-12.   

B. Sale of Properties 2 and 4 and Reinvestment into 40+ Residential Properties 

 

With the sale of Properties 2 and 4 for a total of approximately 6.3 million Jordanian 

pounds, the parties purchased approximately 40 pieces of residential real estate 

(“40+Properties”).  They  40+ Properties are not contiguous properties but are located in the 

Ahman area and all of the purchases were done during a single trip Mr. Yusuf took to Jordan.  

Although jointly owned, the 40+ Properties were put in Mohammad Hamed's name solely.   

However, the parties understood and agreed that Mr. Yusuf had a one-half interest in these 

properties.  This timeframe would have been around 2008.   

Sometime in 201l, Mr. Yusuf requested that the 40+ Properties now be titled to reflect his 

one-half interest.  During a trip to Jordan, Hamed and Yusuf coordinated to transfer most but not 

all of these 40+ Properties to reflect their joint ownership.  As described in Yusuf’s accounting 

claim “[A]ll but two of these properties were jointly titled in the names of Hamed and Yusuf.”  

Yusuf is not looking to liquidate these properties but rather “respectfully requests an Order 

requiring the Executor/Administrator of Hamed’s estate to take such action as may be necessary 

to properly reflect Yusuf’s joint ownership of these [two remaining] parcels and to recover the 

$434,921.37” in costs incurred relating to these 40+ Properties.  The costs are set forth in Exhibit 

R to Yusuf’s Original Claims Accounting.   

C. Transfer of Property from Hamed to Yusuf Per Agreement 

 

After Yusuf’s discovery of the misappropriation of $2,000,000 sent to Hamed from St. 

Maarten in or around 1997, Mr. Yusuf agreed, in order to resolve that issue only, that Hamed 

would convey to him two properties. One of the properties was Property 3 described above and 

Hamed’s conveyance of his interest in a one half acre parcel and its adjacent 9.31 acres in Tutu, 

St. Thomas.    

The document reflecting Hamed's transfer of his interest in Property 3 to Yusuf is 

Exhibit O and Exhibit S which is the English translation.  Property 3 is Land Lot No. 310.  On 

Bates page FY000272-9 of Exhibit O, the words “Lot 310” is located                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

in the middle of a residential community of approximately one million in population.  It is a very 

large plot in the middle of all the smaller plots.  Hamed’s allegations in the 377 case at 

Paragraphs 43, 44, 143, 145, 153, 154 and 155 all relate to Property 3 and Hamed’s transfer of it 
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to Yusuf.  The Hamed’s value that piece of property – Property 3 at $10,000,000.00.   However, 

Mr. Yusuf estimates it is closer to only $8,000,000.00.   Therefore, the claims in the 377 case do, 

in fact, relate to the same piece of property (“Property 3”) and any alleged claims that Hamed has 

relating to Property 3 is properly adjudicated in this proceeding.   

 Yusuf is seeking exactly what he set forth in his claims accounting that “[A]lthough 

Yusuf is not pursuing his claims regarding the misappropriated 2,000,000, Hamed’s sons are still 

seeking to somehow rescind Hamed’s conveyance of his interest in” Property 3 in the 377 case.  

Yusuf is seeking an order, which binds Hamed’s estate by the agreement signed by Hamed at 

Exhibits O and S.  In that agreement entitled “Written Declaration and Undertaking,” Hamed 

confirms that he has the requisite mental faculties to convey his interests in Property 3 to Yusuf, 

that he intends to give him all of his financial and other interests in the property.  Hamed also 

states that: 

…I recommend my folks and legal heirs after me not to oppose 

Mr. Fathi [Yusuf] in the said land due to his right in it and I have 

signed this declaration in three originals whiles enjoying my full 

mental power that are legitimately and legally considered and drop 

my right to claim the falsehood of the declaration and/or the 

circumstances surrounding the execution of this declaration and/or 

any rebut arising from or relating to this declaration and/or its 

applications.  

This was signed by Mohammed Hamed on July 18, 2011.   

 Ultimately, Yusuf had agreed to resolve the misappropriation by the conveyance of 

Property 3 and Hamed’s conveyance of his interest in a one half acre parcel and its adjacent 9.31 

acres in Tutu, St. Thomas.  The 9.31 acres are currently titled in Plessen but should be conveyed 

to Mr. Yusuf.  Likewise, any claims that Hamed would have to the ½ acre entrance parcel should 

be extinguished. 
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     DUDLEY, TOPPER AND FEUERZEIG, LLP 

 

 

 
 

DATED: January 15, 2019   By: s/Charlotte K. Perrell   

       CHARLOTTE K. PERRELL  
(V.I. Bar #1281) 

       Law House 

       1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756 

       St. Thomas, VI  00804-0756 

       Telephone: (340) 715-4422 

       Facsimile: (340) 715-4400 

       E-Mail: cperrell@dtflaw.com   

 

Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United 

Corporation 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 It is hereby certified that on this 15th day of January, 2019, I caused the foregoing a true 

and exact copy of the foregoing SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES TO HAMED’S 

DISCOVERY to be served upon the following via Case Anywhere docketing system:  

 

 Joel H. Holt, Esq. 

LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT 

2132 Company, V.I. 00820 

Email: joelholtpc@gmail.com 

 

 Carl Hartmann, III, Esq. 

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6 

Christiansted, VI 00820 

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com 

 

 

Mark W. Eckard, Esq. 

HAMM & ECKARD, LLP 

5030 Anchor Way – Suite 13 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 

E-Mail:  mark@markeckard.com 

 

 

 

 

Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq. 

C.R.T. Building 

1132 King Street 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

E-Mail:  jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com 

  

       s/Charlotte K. Perrell 

R:\DOCS\6254\1\DRFTPLDG\17Q4050.DOCX 

  



Supplemental Response to Hamed’s Discovery 

Waleed Hamed et al. vs. Fathi Yusuf et al. 

Case No.: STX-2012-CV-370 

Page 11 

 
 

 

EXHIBIT 1 

FY 015045 – 015134 



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) 

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370 

v.      ) 

       ) ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE 

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, ) RELIEF, DECLARATORY 

       )  JUDGMENT, AND 

  Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION, 

 v.      ) WIND UP, AND ACCOUNTING 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,   ) 

MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and ) 

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,   ) 

       ) 

 Additional Counterclaim Defendants. ) Consolidated With 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the  ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-287 

     Plaintiff,  ) 

 v.      ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND 

       ) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

UNITED CORPORATION,    ) 

       ) 

     Defendant. ) 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   )  CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-278 

       ) 

     Plaintiff,  )  ACTION FOR DEBT AND  

 v.      )  CONVERSION 

       ) 

FATHI YUSUF,     ) 

       )  

     Defendant. ) 

 

 

YUSUF’S  

NOTICE OF SERVICE OF SUPPLEMENTAL DISCOVERY RESPONSES 

 

 Fathi Yusuf (“Yusuf”) through his attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP, 

hereby provides Notice that he has filed his Supplemental Discovery Responses to Hamed’s 

E-Served: Jan 15 2019  5:29PM AST  Via Case Anywhere
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1. Interrogatory No 3 – Relating to H-1, Dorthea Condo,  

2. Interrogatory No. 29 and Requests for Production of Documents No.s 21 and 34 – 

Relating to Y-2 and 4 relating to rent for Bays 5 and 8; and  

3. Interrogatory No. 30 – Relating to Y-12 Jordanian Property and Accounts 

to counsel via the CaseAnywhere filing system as set forth below.   

DUDLEY, TOPPER AND FEUERZEIG, LLP 

 
 

DATED: January 15, 2019   By: s/Charlotte K. Perrell   

       CHARLOTTE K. PERRELL  
(V.I. Bar #1281) 

       Law House 

       1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756 

       St. Thomas, VI  00804-0756 

       Telephone: (340) 715-4422 

       Facsimile: (340) 715-4400 

       E-Mail: cperrell@dtflaw.com   

 

Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United 

Corporation 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 It is hereby certified that on this 15th day of January, 2019, I caused the foregoing a true 

and exact copy of the foregoing YUSUF’S NOTICE OF SERVICE OF SUPPLEMENTAL 

DISCOVERY RESPONSES to be served upon the following via Case Anywhere docketing 

system:  

 

 Joel H. Holt, Esq. 

LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT 

2132 Company, V.I. 00820 

Email: joelholtpc@gmail.com 

 

 Carl Hartmann, III, Esq. 

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6 

Christiansted, VI 00820 

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com 

 

 

Mark W. Eckard, Esq. 

HAMM & ECKARD, LLP 

5030 Anchor Way – Suite 13 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 

E-Mail:  mark@markeckard.com 

 

 

Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq. 

C.R.T. Building 

1132 King Street 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

E-Mail:  jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com 

The Honorable Edgar D. Ross 

Email: degarrossjudge@hotmail.com 

 

 

and via U.S. Mail to: 

 

The Honorable Edgar D. Ross 

Master 

P.O. Box 5119 

Kingshill, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands  00851 

Alice Kuo 

5000 Estate Southgate 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

 

 

 

       s/Charlotte K. Perrell   

 

 

R:\DOCS\6254\1\PLDG\17Q2156.DOCX 

 
 

 



E-Served: Jan 15 2019  5:27PM AST  Via Case Anywhere



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) 

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370 

v.      ) 

       ) ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE 

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, ) RELIEF, DECLARATORY 

       )  JUDGMENT, AND 

  Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION, 

 v.      ) WIND UP, AND ACCOUNTING 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,   ) 

MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and ) 

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,   ) 

 Additional Counterclaim Defendants. ) Consolidated With 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the  ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-287 

     Plaintiff,  ) 

 v.      ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND 

       ) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

UNITED CORPORATION,    ) 

       ) 

     Defendant. ) 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   )  CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-278 

       ) 

     Plaintiff,  )  ACTION FOR DEBT AND  

 v.      )  CONVERSION 

       ) 

FATHI YUSUF,     ) 

     Defendant. ) 

FATHI YUSUF and      ) 

UNITED CORPORATION,    )  

       ) CIVIL NO. ST-17-CV-384 

Plaintiffs,                    )  

            ) ACTION TO SET ASIDE 

 v.      ) FRAUDULENT TRANSFERS  

       )  

THE ESTATE OF MOHAMMAD HAMED,  ) 

Waleed Hamed as Executor of the Estate of   ) 

Mohammad Hamed, and    ) 

THE MOHAMMAD A. HAMED LIVING TRUST,) 

       ) 

   Defendants.   ) 

__________________________________________) 

E-Served: Jan 17 2019  9:53PM AST  Via Case AnywhereE-Served: Aug 6 2021  7:48PM AST  Via Case Anywhere
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SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES  

TO HAMED’S DISCOVERY  

 

 

 Defendant/Counterclaimants Fathi Yusuf (“Yusuf”) and United Corporation 

(“United”)(collectively, the “Defendants”) through their attorneys, Dudley, Topper and 

Feuerzeig, LLP, hereby provide their Supplemental Responses to Hamed’s as follows: 

 1. Interrogatory No. 30 – Relating to Y-12 Jordanian Property and Accounts 

Yusuf further supplements his responses to Interrogatory No. 30:   As to the foreign 

accounts, Yusuf is making a claim as to the funds in the following foreign accounts, which were 

in existence after the cut-off deadline in the Limitation Order:  

1. Account Arab Bank 9020-415410-710  

UC002961-Mohammad – UC003033 – Mohammad.   

 

Hamed testified that the sole source of his income has been from his interest in the 

Partnership.  This account in his name.  It appears that over $3,775,763.29 has gone 

through the account over a period of years with regular deposits in and corresponding 

withdrawals of similar amounts out, indicating the partners used it for partnership 

purposes.  This account appears to be open and is subject to equitable division between 

the partners.   Yusuf makes a claim in the amount of, at least, $35,773.97, which existed 

in the account as of 5/30/2010 and to any amount that has been deposited into that 

account between September 17, 2006 to the present time.     

 

2. Account Cairo Aman Bank – 02501171878 00 

FY- 002143.   

 

Waleed Hamed has advised that this account was used by the partnership and thus, 

constitutes joint funds.  This account appears to be open and is subject to equitable 

division between the partners.  Yusuf makes a claim in the amount of, at least, 

$89,838.45, which existed in the account as of 12/31/2010 and to any amount that has 

been deposited in that account between September 17, 2006 and the present time.  
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3. Account Arab Bank 9020-415410-570 

UC 002900-Mohammad – UC002947-Mohammad.  

 

Hamed testified that the sole source of his income has been from his interest in the 

Partnership.  Waleed Hamed has advised that this account was an account for 

Mohammed Hamed.  It appears that over $939,442.00 has gone through the account over 

a period of years with significant single deposits being made indicating the partners used 

it for partnership purposes.  This account appears to be open and is subject to equitable 

division between the partners although the amount as of 7/25/10 was de minimus.  Yusuf 

makes a claim in the amount of, at least $108.07 and any amount that has been deposited 

into that account between September 17, 2006 and the present time. 

 

4. Account Arab Bank 9020-415410-510 

FY 00316-3089.    

 

Hamed testified that the sole source of his income has been from his interest in the 

Partnership.  Waleed Hamed has advised that this account was an account for 

Mohammed Hamed.  It appears that over $4,149,947.19 has gone through the account 

over a period of years with significant deposits and corresponding withdraws of similar 

amounts indicating the partners used it for partnership purposes.  This account appears to 

be open and is subject to equitable division between the partners.  As of 11/25/2009, 

there appears to be no funds in the account but it remains open.  Yusuf makes a claim as 

to any amount that has been deposited to that account between September 17, 2006 and 

the present time.     

 

All of these Bates documents have been previously produced.  Yusuf has sought 

discovery from Hamed relating to these accounts at Interrogatories 31-34 and will supplement 

his response should the depositions of the Hameds reveal additional information in support of 

Yusuf’s claims.   
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     DUDLEY, TOPPER AND FEUERZEIG, LLP 

 

 

 
 

DATED: January 17, 2019   By: s/Charlotte K. Perrell   

       CHARLOTTE K. PERRELL  
(V.I. Bar #1281) 

       Law House 

       1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756 

       St. Thomas, VI  00804-0756 

       Telephone: (340) 715-4422 

       Facsimile: (340) 715-4400 

       E-Mail: cperrell@dtflaw.com   

 

Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United 

Corporation 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 It is hereby certified that on this 17th day of January, 2019, I caused the foregoing a true 

and exact copy of the foregoing SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSES TO HAMED’S 

DISCOVERY to be served upon the following via Case Anywhere docketing system:  

 

 Joel H. Holt, Esq. 

LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT 

2132 Company, V.I. 00820 

Email: joelholtpc@gmail.com 

 

 Carl Hartmann, III, Esq. 

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6 

Christiansted, VI 00820 

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com 

 

 

Mark W. Eckard, Esq. 

HAMM & ECKARD, LLP 

5030 Anchor Way – Suite 13 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 

E-Mail:  mark@markeckard.com 

 

 

 

 

Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq. 

C.R.T. Building 

1132 King Street 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

E-Mail:  jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com 

  

       s/Charlotte K. Perrell 

R:\DOCS\6254\1\DRFTPLDG\17Q4050.DOCX 
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UC 002962-Mohammad



UC 002963-Mohammad



UC 002964-Mohammad



UC 002965-Mohammad



UC 002966-Mohammad



UC 002967-Mohammad



UC 002968-Mohammad



UC 002969-Mohammad



UC 002970-Mohammad



UC 002971-Mohammad



UC 002972-Mohammad



UC 002973-Mohammad



UC 002974-Mohammad



UC 002975-Mohammad



UC 002976-Mohammad



UC 002977-Mohammad



UC 002978-Mohammad



UC 002979-Mohammad



UC 002980-Mohammad



UC 002981-Mohammad



UC 002982-Mohammad



UC 002983-Mohammad



UC 002984-Mohammad



UC 002985-Mohammad



UC 002986-Mohammad



UC 002987-Mohammad



UC 002988-Mohammad



UC 002989-Mohammad



UC 002990-Mohammad



UC 002991-Mohammad



UC 002992-Mohammad



UC 002993-Mohammad



UC 002994-Mohammad



UC 002995-Mohammad



UC 002996-Mohammad



UC 002997-Mohammad



UC 002998-Mohammad



UC 002999-Mohammad



UC 003000-Mohammad



UC 003001-Mohammad



UC 003002-Mohammad



UC 003003-Mohammad



UC 003004-Mohammad



UC 003005-Mohammad



UC 003006-Mohammad



UC 003007-Mohammad



UC 003008-Mohammad



UC 003009-Mohammad



UC 003010-Mohammad



UC 003011-Mohammad



UC 003012-Mohammad



UC 003013-Mohammad



UC 003014-Mohammad



UC 003015-Mohammad



UC 003016-Mohammad



UC 003017-Mohammad



UC 003018-Mohammad



UC 003019-Mohammad



UC 003020-Mohammad



UC 003021-Mohammad



UC 003022-Mohammad



UC 003023-Mohammad



UC 003024-Mohammad



UC 003025-Mohammad



UC 003026-Mohammad



UC 003027-Mohammad



UC 003028-Mohammad



UC 003029-Mohammad



UC 003030-Mohammad



UC 003031-Mohammad



UC 003032-Mohammad



UC 003033-Mohammad



UC 002900-Mohammad
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) 

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370 

v.      ) 

       ) ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE 

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, ) RELIEF, DECLARATORY 

       )  JUDGMENT, AND 

  Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION, 

 v.      ) WIND UP, AND ACCOUNTING 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,   ) 

MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and ) 

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,   ) 

       ) 

 Additional Counterclaim Defendants. ) Consolidated With 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the  ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-287 

     Plaintiff,  ) 

 v.      ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND 

       ) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

UNITED CORPORATION,    ) 

       ) 

     Defendant. ) 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   )  CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-278 

       ) 

     Plaintiff,  )  ACTION FOR DEBT AND  

 v.      )  CONVERSION 

       ) 

FATHI YUSUF,     ) 

       )  

     Defendant. ) 

 

 

YUSUF’S  

NOTICE OF SERVICE OF SUPPLEMENTAL DISCOVERY RESPONSES 

 

 Fathi Yusuf (“Yusuf”) through his attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP, 

hereby provides Notice that he has filed his Supplemental Discovery Responses to Hamed’s 

E-Served: Jan 17 2019  9:54PM AST  Via Case AnywhereE-Served: Aug 6 2021  7:48PM AST  Via Case Anywhere
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1. Interrogatory No. 30 – Relating to Y-12 Jordanian Property and Accounts 

to counsel via the CaseAnywhere filing system as set forth below.   

DUDLEY, TOPPER AND FEUERZEIG, LLP 

 
 

DATED: January 17, 2019   By: s/Charlotte K. Perrell   

       CHARLOTTE K. PERRELL  
(V.I. Bar #1281) 

       Law House 

       1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756 

       St. Thomas, VI  00804-0756 

       Telephone: (340) 715-4422 

       Facsimile: (340) 715-4400 

       E-Mail: cperrell@dtflaw.com   

 

Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United 

Corporation 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 It is hereby certified that on this 17th day of January, 2019, I caused the foregoing a true 

and exact copy of the foregoing YUSUF’S NOTICE OF SERVICE OF SUPPLEMENTAL 

DISCOVERY RESPONSES to be served upon the following via Case Anywhere docketing 

system:  

 

 Joel H. Holt, Esq. 

LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT 

2132 Company, V.I. 00820 

Email: joelholtpc@gmail.com 

 

 Carl Hartmann, III, Esq. 

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6 

Christiansted, VI 00820 

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com 

 

 

Mark W. Eckard, Esq. 

HAMM & ECKARD, LLP 

5030 Anchor Way – Suite 13 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 

E-Mail:  mark@markeckard.com 

 

 

Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq. 

C.R.T. Building 

1132 King Street 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

E-Mail:  jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com 

The Honorable Edgar D. Ross 

Email: degarrossjudge@hotmail.com 

 

 

and via U.S. Mail to: 

 

The Honorable Edgar D. Ross 

Master 

P.O. Box 5119 

Kingshill, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands  00851 

Alice Kuo 

5000 Estate Southgate 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

 

       s/Charlotte K. Perrell   
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) 

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370 

v.      ) 

       ) ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE 

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, ) RELIEF, DECLARATORY 

       )  JUDGMENT, AND 

  Defendants/Counterclaimants, ) PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION, 

 v.      ) WIND UP, AND ACCOUNTING 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,   ) 

MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and ) 

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,   ) 

       ) 

 Additional Counterclaim Defendants. ) Consolidated With 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the  ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   ) 

       ) CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-287 

     Plaintiff,  ) 

 v.      ) ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND 

       ) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

UNITED CORPORATION,    ) 

       ) 

     Defendant. ) 

       ) 

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the   ) 

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,   )  CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-278 

       ) 

     Plaintiff,  )  ACTION FOR DEBT AND  

 v.      )  CONVERSION 

       ) 

FATHI YUSUF,     ) 

       )  

     Defendant. ) 

 

 

YUSUF’S  

CORRECTED NOTICE OF SERVICE OF SUPPLEMENTAL DISCOVERY 

RESPONSES 

 

E-Served: Jan 18 2019  10:10AM AST  Via Case AnywhereE-Served: Aug 6 2021  7:48PM AST  Via Case Anywhere



Yusuf’s Corrected Notice of Service of Supplemental Discovery Responses  

Waleed Hamed et al vs. Fathi Yusuf et al.  

Page 2 

 

 Fathi Yusuf (“Yusuf”) through his attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP, 

hereby provides Corrected Notice that he has filed his Supplemental Discovery Responses to 

Hamed’s 

1. Interrogatory No. 30 – Relating to Y-12 Jordanian Property and Accounts 

to counsel via the CaseAnywhere filing system as set forth below with the correction of a 

typographical error in the designation of Bates No.s FY 003016-FY 003089 and 

accompanying documents.   

DUDLEY, TOPPER AND FEUERZEIG, LLP 

 
 

DATED: January 18, 2019   By: s/Charlotte K. Perrell   

       CHARLOTTE K. PERRELL  

(V.I. Bar #1281) 

       Law House 

       1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756 

       St. Thomas, VI  00804-0756 

       Telephone: (340) 715-4422 

       Facsimile: (340) 715-4400 

       E-Mail: cperrell@dtflaw.com   

 

Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United 

Corporation 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 It is hereby certified that on this 18th day of January, 2019, I caused the foregoing a true 

and exact copy of the foregoing YUSUF’S CORRECTED NOTICE OF SERVICE OF 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCOVERY RESPONSES to be served upon the following via Case 

Anywhere docketing system:  

 

 Joel H. Holt, Esq. 

LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT 

2132 Company, V.I. 00820 

Email: joelholtpc@gmail.com 

 

 Carl Hartmann, III, Esq. 

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6 

Christiansted, VI 00820 

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com 

 

 

Mark W. Eckard, Esq. 

HAMM & ECKARD, LLP 

5030 Anchor Way – Suite 13 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820-4692 

E-Mail:  mark@markeckard.com 

 

 

Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq. 

C.R.T. Building 

1132 King Street 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

E-Mail:  jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com 

The Honorable Edgar D. Ross 

Email: degarrossjudge@hotmail.com 

 

 

and via U.S. Mail to: 

 

The Honorable Edgar D. Ross 

Master 

P.O. Box 5119 

Kingshill, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands  00851 

Alice Kuo 

5000 Estate Southgate 

Christiansted, St. Croix 

U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 

 

       s/Charlotte K. Perrell   
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From: Charlotte Perrell
To: Carl Hartmann (carl@hartmann.attorney); Kim Japinga (kim@japinga.com)
Cc: Stefan Herpel
Date: Friday, December 18, 2020 10:17:44 AM
Attachments: 31A9025-Supplemental Responses for C Hartmann - Jordanian Properties.XLSX

Supplemental_Discovery_Responses__20190115132427 - Foreign properties.pdf

Carl and Kim,
 
Good morning. 
 
Attached are the supplementation in the Excel Spreadsheet as to the Jordanian Properties.  I noted
the supplementation in green. 
 
I believe that I have fully answered the questions you have raised but encourage you to read the
Supplemental Discovery Responses filed on January 15, 2019 for a more detailed and narrative
explanation. 
 
As to the Foreign Accounts – I am having the documents responsive put together and bookmarked
into a single pdf.  These documents have been produced previously but congealing them and
designating them will be a clearer picture. I hope to have that completed by the end of the day today
and if no, by Monday.
 
Stefan will be joining us at noon as well. 
 
 
Thank you,
 
Charlotte
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THIS MESSAGE IS INTENDED ONLY FOR THE USE OF THE INDIVIDUAL OR ENTITY TO WHICH IT IS
ADDRESSED AND MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS PRIVILEGED, CONFIDENTIAL, AND EXEMPT
FROM DISCLOSURE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW.  If the reader of this message is not the intended
recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for delivering the message to the intended recipient,
you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution, forwarding or copying of this
communication is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this communication in error, please notify
the sender immediately by email or telephone and delete the original message immediately.  Thank
you.
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Name of Titleholder of the Property at 
Date of Purchase Property Description

Date Property 
was Purchased

Current Owner of 
Property

Property Purchased 
with Cash or Bank 
Transfer of Funds?

Identify how all funds generated 
or provided by PE supermarkets 

were transferred for the 
purchase of the property 

(including amounts and dates of 
all such transactions)

List all transactions 
that occurred on or 
after September 17, 

2006 

The Claim by Yusuf

Mohammad Hamed and Fathi Yusuf Property 3:  Land No. 
(310), basin 6,
Huwaijer, Tabarbour 
Village, of east Amman 
lands. Exhibits O & S

Approixmately 
1999

Fathi Yusuf solely - 
Hamed transferred 
his 1/2 interest to 
Yusuf  on 7/2011 in 
partial exchange for 
discovery of earlier 
misappropriation by 
Waleed Hamed.  

See  Supplemental 
Responses to 
Interrogatory 30 on 
Jan 15, 2019 for 
more detailed 
explanation.  
Attached

Original purchase in 
1999 with funds either 
directly from Plaza Extra 
Accounts or thru St. 
Maarten accounts to 
accounts at Cairo Aman 
Bank or Arab Bank 
Accounts, which were 
used for the purchase. 

Transfers came either from Plaza 
Extra Accounts directly or thru 
transfers from the St. Maarten 
accounts.  The transferrs went 
into either Cairo Aman Accounts 
or Arab Bank Accounts and then 
the property was purchased.  The 
amount paid is described more 
fully in Supplemental Response to 
Interrogatory 30 on January 15, 
2019.  Attached. 

A transfer of 
Hamed's 1/2 was 
made to  Yusuf in 
7/2011 as partial 
exchance for the 
discovery of the 
earlier 
misappropriation. 

See Supplemental 
Responses to 
Interrogatory 30 on 
Jan 15, 2019.  
Attached  

Yusuf is seeking exactly what 
he set forth inhis claims 
accounting that "Although 
Yusuf is not pursuing his 
claims regarding the 
misappropriated 2,000,000, 
Hamed's sons are still 
seeking to somehow rescind 
Hamed's conveyance of his 
intersted in Property 3 in the 
377 case.  Yusuf is seeking an 
order, which binds Hamed's 
estate by the agreement 
signed by Hamed at Exhibits 
O and S.  

1
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Name of Titleholder of the Property at 
Date of Purchase Property Description

Date Property 
was Purchased

Current Owner of 
Property

Property Purchased 
with Cash or Bank 
Transfer of Funds?

Identify how all funds generated 
or provided by PE supermarkets 

were transferred for the 
purchase of the property 

(including amounts and dates of 
all such transactions)

List all transactions 
that occurred on or 
after September 17, 

2006 

The Claim by Yusuf

These properties are the result of a 
purchase which occurred with proceeds 
from Property 2 and Paroperty 4, which 
were originally held in joint names of 
both Hamed and Yusuf.  These 
properties are part of the 40+ 
properties that were purchased in 
2008.  At the time of purchase in 2008, 
they were put in Hamed's name but 
jointly owned.  In 2011, the 40+ 
properties were then titled in joint 
names to reflect the parties' joint 
ownership.  However, a few of the 
residential lots were inadvertantly 
missed during this effort to reflect the 
joint ownership.  This property is one of 
the ones that was missed and Yusuf is 
requesting that the Estate of Hamed 
simply proceed with the effort to add 
Yusuf's name to the title as was done 
with the other 40+/- properties in 2011.     

See  Supplemental Responses to 
Interrogatory No. 30 on January 15, 
2019.  Attached

Property that was not put 
in Fathi Yusuf's name. 
Plot # 1179 - basin No. 
(2), basin name (Khirbet 
Al-Thheiba Al- Janoubieh) 
of the lands of the village 
of (Thheiba Al- Gharbieh) 
affiliated with the 
Directorate of 
Registration of Al-
Mowaqqar Lands at the 
Governorate of Amman.  
Exhibit N 

It is that Yusuf's name 
was not added to the title 
to reflect the joint 
ownership.  

2008 following 
sale of Property 2 

and 4 - those 
proceeds were 

used to purchase 
the 40+ 

residential 
properties.  

See Supplemental 
Responses to 

Interrogatory 30 
on Jan 15, 2019.  

Attached.

See Supplemental 
Response to 
Interrogatory 30  on 
Jan 15, 2019.  
Attached.

The funds for the 
purchase of these 
residential lots were 
generated from the 
proceeds of the sale of 
Property 2 and 4 (as 
described in more detail 
in Supplemental 
Response to 
Interrogatory No. 30).  

See Supplemental 
Responses to 
Interrogatory 30 on Jan 
15, 2019.  Attached

The funds for the purchase of 
these residential lots were 
generated from the proceeds of 
the sale of Property 2 and 4 (as 
described in more detail in 
Supplemental Response to 
Interrogatory No. 30).  

See Supplemental Responses to 
Interrogatory 30 on Jan 15, 2019.  
Attached

Change in Title to 
reflect Yusuf 1/2 
ownership was to 
have occurred in 
7/2011,previous 
purchase in 2008

Yusuf requests an Order 
requireing the Executor 
/Administrator of Hamed's 
estate to take such action as 
may be necessary to 
properly reflect Yusuf's joint 
ownership of these [two 
remaining] parcels and to 
recover the $434,921.37 in 
costs incurred relating to 
these 40+ Properties.  The 
costs are set forth in Exhibit 
R to Yusuf's Original Claims 
Accounting. 

2
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Name of Titleholder of the Property at 
Date of Purchase Property Description

Date Property 
was Purchased

Current Owner of 
Property

Property Purchased 
with Cash or Bank 
Transfer of Funds?

Identify how all funds generated 
or provided by PE supermarkets 

were transferred for the 
purchase of the property 

(including amounts and dates of 
all such transactions)

List all transactions 
that occurred on or 
after September 17, 

2006 

The Claim by Yusuf

These properties are the result of a 
purchase which occurred with proceeds 
from Property 2 and Paroperty 4, which 
were originally held in joint names of 
both Hamed and Yusuf.  These 
properties are part of the 40+ 
properties that were purchased in 
2008.  At the time of purchase in 2008, 
they were put in Hamed's name.  In 
2011, the 40+ properties were then 
titled in joint names to reflect the 
parties' joint ownership.  However, a 
few of the residential lots were 
inadvertantly missed during this effort 
to reflect the joint ownership.  This 
property is one of the ones that was 
missed and Yusuf is requesting that the 
Estate of Hamed simply proceed with 
the effort to add Yusuf's name to the 
title as was done with the other 40+/- 
properties in 2011.     
See Supplemental Responses to 
Interrogatory No. 30 on January 15, 
2019.  Attached

Property that was not put 
in Fathi Yusuf's name.  
Plot # 63-basin No. (13), 
basin name (Um Al- 
Toyour) of the lands of 
the village of (Hayyan
Al-Mushret) affiliated 
with the Directorate of 
Registration of Al- Mafraq 
Lands at the Governorate 
of A1-Mafra. Exhibit N.  

It is that Yusuf's name 
was not added to the title 
to reflect the joint 
ownership. 

2008 following 
sale of Property 2 

and 4 - those 
proceeds were 

used to purchase 
the 40+ 

residential 
properties.  

See Supplemental 
Responses to 

Interrogatory 30 
on Jan 15, 2019.  

Attached. 

See Supplemental 
Response to 
Interrogatory 30 on 
Jan 15, 2019. 
Attached.

The funds for the 
purchase of these 
residential lots were 
generated from the 
proceeds of the sale of 
Property 2 and 4 (as 
described in more detail 
in Supplemental 
Response to 
Interrogatory No. 30).  

The funds for the purchase of 
these residential lots were 
generated from the proceeds of 
the sale of Property 2 and 4 (as 
described in more detail in 
Supplemental Response to 
Interrogatory No. 30).  

See Supplemental Responses to 
Interrogatory 30 on Jan 15, 2019.  
Attached

Change in Title to 
reflect Yusuf 1/2 
ownership was to 
have occurred in 
7/2011,previous 
purchase in 2008

Yusuf requests an Order 
requireing the Executor 
/Administrator of Hamed's 
estate to take such action as 
may be necessary to 
properly reflect Yusuf's joint 
ownership of these [two 
remaining] parcels and to 
recover the $434,921.37 in 
costs incurred relating to 
these 40+ Properties.  The 
costs are set forth in Exhibit 
R to Yusuf's Original Claims 
Accounting. 

Not Property, but listed under this claim:

Batch Plant - $150,000

Not making a 
claim/the facts are 
set forth to reflect 
concerns with 
Waleed's and 
Hamed's receipt of 
partnership funds as 
not being properly 
allocated either to 
joint property or for 
purposes to which 
the parties had 
agreed.  3
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Name of Titleholder of the Property at 
Date of Purchase Property Description

Date Property 
was Purchased

Current Owner of 
Property

Property Purchased 
with Cash or Bank 
Transfer of Funds?

Identify how all funds generated 
or provided by PE supermarkets 

were transferred for the 
purchase of the property 

(including amounts and dates of 
all such transactions)

List all transactions 
that occurred on or 
after September 17, 

2006 

The Claim by Yusuf

See Supplemental Response to 
Interrogatory No. 30 on January 15, 
2019.  

Cost of putting Fathi 
Yusuf's name on the 40+ 
pieces of property in 
Jordan ($50,521.29, 
Exhibits R & S)

Joint Ownership 
Hamed and Yusuf - 
Joint - this reflects 
the costs associated 
with adding Yusuf's 
name to the 40+ 
residential 
properties in 2011.  

Sale of original 
Property 2 and 4 - 
Purchase of 40+ in 
2008, addition of 
Fathi Yusuf to the 
deed/title occurred 
in July 2011.  

Yusuf requests an Order 
requireing the Executor 
/Administrator of Hamed's 
estate to take such action as 
may be necessary to 
properly reflect Yusuf's joint 
ownership of these [two 
remaining] parcels and to 
recover the $434,921.37 in 
costs incurred relating to 
these 40+ Properties.  The 
costs are set forth in Exhibit 
R to Yusuf's Original Claims 
Accounting. 

Not Foreign Property, but listed under this claim:

1/2 acre in Tutu The 1/2 Acre and 
the 9.31 Acres are 
the subject of the 
Master's May 3, 
2020 Order.  The 
evidence relating 

to these 
properties has 

been extensively 
briefed with 
supporting 

evidence and 
evidentiary 

findings already 
made as well as a 

determination 
that certain issues 

of fact remain. 

4
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Exhibit K

Foreign Accounts I/N /O Mohammad Hamed and /or Waleed Hamed

a. Arab Bank, Account No. 9020 -415410 -700 (JOD)

b. Arab Bank, Account No. 9020 -415410 -500 (JOD)

c. Arab Bank, Account No. 9020 -415410 -510 (USD)

d. Arab Bank, Account No. 9020 -415410 -570 (ILS)

e. Arab Bank, Nablus Branch, Account No. 9020 -415410 -710 (USD)

f. Cairo Amman Bank, Account No. 001 0001629 01 2123 833 (JOD)

g. Cairo Amman Bank, Account No. 001 0001629 03 2123 833 (USD)

h. Cairo Amman Bank, Account No. 02501171878 00 (USD)

i. Banque Francaise Commerciale, Account No. 40 -60- 63878 -90

j. Banque Francaise Commerciale, Account No. 40 -60- 63878 -91

YUSF237884
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX 

 

WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of the 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED, 
 

 
 
Case No.: SX-2012-CV-370 

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, 
 

 

       vs.  
 
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION 

ACTION FOR DAMAGES, 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND 
DECLARATORY RELIEF 

  
Defendants and Counterclaimants. 

 
       vs.  
 
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, 
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and 
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,  
 
            Counterclaim Defendants, 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 

 Consolidated with 

  
WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of the 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED, Plaintiff, 
 
        vs.  
 

 
Case No.: SX-2014-CV-287 

UNITED CORPORATION, Defendant.  
 
 

WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of the 
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED, Plaintiff 
        
        vs.  
       
FATHI YUSUF, Defendant. 

Consolidated with 
 
Case No.: SX-2014-CV-278 

 
 
 

FATHI YUSUF, Plaintiff, 
 

        vs.  
 

MOHAMMAD A. HAMED TRUST, et al, 
                         Defendants. 

 
Consolidated with 
 
Case No.: ST-17-CV-384 

 

  

PLAINTIFF/COUNTERCLAIM DEFENDANT WALEED HAMED’S 

RESPONSES TO FATHI YUSUF'S RESUBMISSION OF INTERROGATORIES 31-32 

AND NEW INTERROGATORIES 33-34 TO HAMED 
 

E-Served: May 15 2018  9:56PM AST  Via Case AnywhereE-Served: Aug 6 2021  7:48PM AST  Via Case Anywhere



Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant Waleed Hamed’s Responses  
to Yusuf’s Resubmission of ROGS 31-32 and ROGs 33-34 
Page 2 
 
Objection to all of the following: 

Pursuant to the stipulated Discovery Plan of January 29, 2018, this discovery is limited to 

the Revised Claims -- as agreed to by the parties pursuant to the direction of the Special 

Master.  All discovery must, therefore, relate to, or be calculated to lead to discoverable 

evidence as to one of the Claims set forth.  Yusuf does not identify the claims to which 

inquiries relate -- and most do not relate to any of the remaining Revised Claims.  (In 

Hamed's discovery each item is related to the specific claim.) 

HAMED RESPONSES TO FATHI YUSUF’S RESUBMISSION OF 
INTERROGATORIES 31-32 AND NEW INTERROGATORIES 33-34 

 
ROG 31. Explain the disposition of all of the foreign property and accounts described in 

Exhibit 7 including what happened to these accounts, when they were closed, and their 

balance as of September 17, 2006 as well as the current status of those properties in 

Hamed's name and identify all documents relating to your explanation. 

Hamed Response: Object. This request is objected to as being beyond the scope of the 

current accounting process, as it involves foreign assets.  Subject to that objection, at 

some point between 2010-2012, Hamed obtained all of his account statements for the 

accounts he had in his name in Jordan and provided those to Fathi Yusuf.  Since that 

time period, it is Waleed Hamed’s belief that his father did not make any effort to obtain 

more up-to-date statements.  Finally, Waleed Hamed does not know the current status of 

his father’s Jordanian bank accounts listed below. 

Arab Bank, Account No. 9020-415410-700 (JOD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s 

bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the 

account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 

17, 2006. 



Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant Waleed Hamed’s Responses  
to Yusuf’s Resubmission of ROGS 31-32 and ROGs 33-34 
Page 3 
 
Arab Bank, Account No. 9020-415410-500 (JOD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s 

bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the 

account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 

17, 2006. 

Arab Bank, Account No. 9020-415410-510 (USD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s 

bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the 

account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 

17, 2006. 

Arab Bank, Account No. 9020-415410-570 (ILS) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s bank 

account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the 

account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 

17, 2006. 

Arab Bank, Nablus Branch, Account No. 9020-415410-710 (USD) – This was 

Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him 

what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account 

(if any) on September 17, 2006. 

Cairo Aman Bank, Account No. 001 0001629 012123 833 (JOD) – This was 

Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him 

what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account 

(if any) on September 17, 2006. 

Cairo Aman Bank, Account No. 001 0001629 03 2123 833 (USD) – This was 

Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him 

what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account 

(if any) on September 17, 2006. 
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Cairo Aman Bank, Account No. 02501171878 00 (USD) – This account is in Wally 

Hamed’s name.  However, this account was used in the money laundering scheme for 

the Plaza Extra stores that was the subject of the 2001 FBI raid and on the stores and 

the subsequent criminal case and conviction of United Corporation.  Wally Hamed does 

not have these account statements, as Fathi Yusuf had them sent to himself at the Plaza 

Extra-Tutu store.  Fathi Yusuf is in the best position to answer what happened to the 

account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 

17, 2006. 

Banque Francaise Commerciale, Account No. 40-60-63878-90 – This account is in 

Wally Hamed’s name.  However, this account was used in the money laundering scheme 

for the Plaza Extra stores that was the subject of the 2001 FBI raid and on the stores and 

the subsequent criminal case.  Wally Hamed does not have these account statements, 

as Fathi Yusuf had them sent to his relative, Isam Yousuf, on Sint-Maarten.  There is a 

document that was gathered by the FBI, indicating that this account was closed sometime 

in 2002.   See, HAMD204104-HAMD204104.  However, Fathi Yusuf is in the best position 

to answer what happened to the account, when the account was closed and the balance 

of the account (if any) on September 17, 2006. 

Banque Francaise Commerciale, Account No. 40-60-63878-91 – This account is in 

Wally Hamed’s name.  However, this account was used in the money laundering scheme 

for the Plaza Extra stores that was the subject of the 2001 FBI raid and on the stores and 

the subsequent criminal case.  Wally Hamed does not have these account statements, 

as Fathi Yusuf had them sent to his relative, Isam Yousuf, on Sint-Maarten.  Fathi Yusuf 

is in the best position to answer what happened to the account, if the account was closed 

and the balance of the account (if any) on September 17, 2006. 
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ROG 32. Identify all facts and circumstances which give rise to any dispute you have with 

Yusuf’s claims to the loss of going concern value as to the Plaza Extra West Store as 

identified by Yusuf in Exhibit 6, attached hereto and identify all documents relating to your 

explanation. 

Hamed Response:  This case arose over a dispute as to whether the three Plaza Extra 

supermarkets (two on St. Croix and one on St. Thomas) were owned by United 

Corporation (owned by Fathi Yusuf's family) or by a partnership consisting of Fathi Yusuf 

and Mohammad Hamed. After a full hearing, Judge Brady found the stores were owned 

by the 2-person partnership, 2013 WL 1846506, affirmed on appeal at 2013 WL 5429498. 

While this was just a preliminary finding sufficient to issue an injunction, it was not a final 

determination on the merits. Fathi Yusuf then decided to concede that there was a 

partnership, which he promptly moved to dissolve. His proposed dissolution plan called 

for the closure of all three stores, as, he stated, neither of the two stores on St. Croix 

(Plaza East and Plaza West) had a lease and the store on St. Thomas only had a few 

years left on its lease. Three of Mohammad Hamed's sons formed, KAC357, Inc., and 

obtained a lease from the owner of the property where Plaza West was located, Plessen 

Enterprises, Inc. The lease commenced only after the partnership vacated the premises. 

While the validity of that lease was challenged by Yusuf, it was found to be valid by Judge 

Brady, as well as by Judge Willocks -- in a Yusuf lawsuit filed against Plessen. 

 When the Plaza West store was transferred, he signed an order transferring that 

store "free and clear of any claims of Yusuf," quoting from Judge Brady's January 7, 2015, 

Wind Up Order. Thus, it has already been determined by the January Order (as 

incorporated into the transfer Order of the Special Master) that Yusuf has no claim 
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against Hamed associated with the transfer of the Plaza West store. In short, Yusuf's 

additional claim for half of its value "as a going concern" is meritless.  

 Second, even if such a claim survived, it would have no value, as the Plaza West 

store had no lease, and hence, nothing to sell, other than its inventory and equipment, 

which was sold with the transfer order. Notwithstanding this fact, Yusuf obtained an expert 

report from lntegra to opine on the value of this claim. However, that valuation is 

contingent on one pivotal assumption that is false. At the outset of that opinion, lntegra 

notes the definition of the "Extraordinary Assumptions" contained in the report, stating 

Extraordinary Assumptions and Hypothetical Conditions The value conclusions are 

subject to the following extraordinary assumptions that may affect the assignment results. 

An extraordinary assumption is uncertain information accepted as fact. The report then 

continues by listing one such assumption...."3. It is our understanding that the real estate 

was owned by a related entity as of the date of valuation. For the purposes of valuing the 

business entity separately from the value of the real estate (which was separately 

appraised), we have assumed that the entity operating the business leases the property 

from a separate entity at market rent. 

 However, this assumption is false, as there was never a lease for the Plaza West 

store, as Yusuf conceded in his pleadings in this case. In this regard, when Yusuf filed 

his proposed liquidation plan, he admitted to the Court that the West store could not be 

sold as a going concern because it had no such lease.  "Thus, the Plaza Extra Stores 

cannot be sold as a going concern because of the absence of commercial leases for 

Plaza Extra - East and Plaza Extra - West and the existence of only a short term less than 

5 years) remaining on the lease between United and Tutu Park Mall, Ltd. for Plaza Extra-

Tutu Park. Hence, liquidation of the Plaza Extra Stores is warranted." 
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 Thus, as there was no lease, the lntegra calculation is based on an assumption 

that does not in fact exist. ln short, once this "assumption" is removed, the Plaza West 

store has no "ongoing value" under lntegra's valuation based on this assumption. 

Also, this Yusuf claim is the subject of a pending motion to strike this claim, which 

has been fully briefed, which briefs and attached exhibits are all incorporated herein by 

reference. 

ROG 33.  Identify the person or persons whose handwriting is contained on Exhibits G 

and H, attached hereto and if it is more than one person, identify which portions of Exhibit 

G and H represent each person's handwriting.  

Hamed Response:  Waleed Hamed did not write Exhibits G and H, so he does not have 

direct knowledge who wrote the documents, but based on his experience with the 

handwriting of the Yusuf’s, he believes the following were the drafters of the documents: 

Exhibit G: 
Page FY 004477 - Fathi Yusuf’s handwriting. 

Page FY 004476 - Fathi Yusuf’s handwriting. 

Page FY 004475 - All of this page is in Fathi Yusuf’s handwriting, except for the 

following signatures:  Waleed Hamed’s signature next to the 6/9/94 entry for 

$15,000, the 6/8/94 entry for $5,000 and 7/13/94 entry for $2,500.  Mohammad 

Hamed’s signature is next to the 5/14/94 for $5,000. 

Page FY 004474 – Fathi Yusuf’s handwriting. 

Page FY 004473 – Fathi Yusuf’s handwriting. 

Exhibit H:  
Page FY 014955 – Maher Yusuf’s handwriting. 
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ROG 34.   Identify all spreadsheets, proposals and mediation assessments or statements 

in the Criminal Case, which reflect unreported income as to any of the parties in the 

Criminal Case including identification of the date each document was prepared and the 

name of the attorney or accountant who prepared it. 

Hamed Response:  Hamed objects to producing spreadsheets, proposals and mediation 

assessments or statements in the Criminal Case prepared by Hamed’s attorneys as they 

are protected by the attorney work product.  Subject to that objection, Hamed identifies 

the following documents as responsive to the request: 

• Exhibit 49 to the March 6, 2017 hearing before Judge Brady in this case, 

HAMD641485-HAMD642240.pdf.  This was prepared by Attorney Carl Hartmann 

with paralegal assistance shortly before the March 6, 2017 hearing. 

• Overage 1996-2001 to Fathi Yusuf - US Gov Calculation prepared on September 

28, 2014 by Attorney Carl Hartmann with paralegal assistance, HAMD659858-

HAMD659858.pdf. 

Also, please see the following: 

• Draft Summary Schedules, letter transmitting document dated December 28, 

2004. prepared by the FBI and US Department of Justice.  Hamed does not know 

the specific attorney or accountant who prepared the document, HAMD629722-

HAMD630014.pdf. 

• Draft Summary Schedules, dated January 4, 2005 and prepared by FBI and US 

Department of Justice.  Hamed does not know the specific attorney or accountant 

who prepared the document, HAMD612386-HAMD612642.pdf. 
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• Letter to Hank Smock from Ron Soluri, RSM McGladrey, attaching “relevant data 

on the St. Martin and Jordan bank accounts,” dated December 16, 2004, 

HAMD644447-HAMD644512.pdf. 
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Co-Counsel for Plaintiff 

       5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6 
       Christiansted, Vl 00820 
       Email: carl@carlhartmann.com   
       T: (340) 719-8941/F: (212) 202-3733 
  

Joel H. Holt, Esq. (Bar #6) 
       Counsel for Plaintiff 
       Law Offices of Joel H. Holt 
       2132 Company Street, 
       Christiansted, Vl 00820 
       Email: holtvi@aol.com 
       T: (340) 773-8709/F: (340) 773-867 
 
 
  



Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant Waleed Hamed’s Responses  
to Yusuf’s Resubmission of ROGS 31-32 and ROGs 33-34 
Page 10 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I hereby certify that on this 15th day of May, 2018, I served a copy of the foregoing 
by email (via CaseAnywhere), as agreed by the parties, on: 
 
Hon. Edgar Ross 
Special Master 
% edgarrossjudge@hotmail.com 
 
Gregory H. Hodges 
Stefan Herpel 
Charlotte Perrell 
Law House, 10000 Frederiksberg Gade 
P.O. Box 756 
St. Thomas, VI 00802 
ghodges@dtflaw.com 
 
Mark W. Eckard 
Hamm, Eckard, LLP 
5030 Anchor Way 
Christiansted, VI 00820 
mark@markeckard.com 
 
Jeffrey B. C. Moorhead 
CRT Brow Building 
1132 King Street, Suite 3 
Christiansted, VI 00820 
jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com     

       A 

 
 

 

CERTIFICATE OF WORD/PAGE COUNT 

 This document complies with the page or word limitation set forth in Rule 6-1 (e). 

 
 

       A  



Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant Waleed Hamed's Responses

to Yusuf's Resubmission of ROGS 3L-32 and ROGs 33-34
Page 11

VERIFICATION

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the facts contained in each of the
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DISTRICT OF

On this, the

) ss.
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I
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to be) the person whose name is subscribed to the within document and acknowledged

that he/she executed the same for the purpose therein contained

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal

Notary Public

NOTARY PUBLIC
JERRI FARRANTE

Commission ExP: SePtember 3' 2019

NP-93-15


	Yusuf's_Opposition_to_Hamed's_Current_Motion_to_Compel_as_to_Y-12_20210806163734_13
	Exhibit_A_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Opposition_to_MTC_-_12-30-2018_20210806163841_12
	Exhibit_B_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Supplemental_Discovery_-_1-15-2019_20210806163923_11
	Exhibit_C_-1_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Supplemental_Discovery_Responses_-_1-17_-2019__20210806164028_10
	Exhibit_C_-3_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Bates_FY002143_20210806164207_8
	Exhibit_C-2_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Bates_UC002961_-_Mohammad_-_UC003033-Mohammad_20210806164124_9
	Exhibit_C-4_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Bates_UC002900-UC002947_20210806164254_7
	Exhibit_C-5_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Bates_FY003016-FY-003089_20210806164344_6
	Exhibit_C-6_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Notice_of_Service_of_Supplemental_Discovery_Responses_20210806164438_5
	Exhibit_C-7_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Corrected_Notice_of_Service_of_Supplemental_Responses_20210806164526_4
	Exhibit_D_-_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_December_20,_2020_Supplemental_Discovery__20210806164629_3
	Exhibit_E_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_List_of_Foreign_Account_in_Yusuf's_Accounting_Claims_as_Exhibit_K_20210806164718_2
	Exhibit_F_to_Current_MTC_as_to_Y-12_-_Hamed_Answers_to_Discovery_regarding_Foreign_Accounts_and_Foreign_Property_20210806164804_1
	DIVISION OF ST. CROIX
	Hamed Response: Object. This request is objected to as being beyond the scope of the current accounting process, as it involves foreign assets.  Subject to that objection, at some point between 2010-2012, Hamed obtained all of his account statements f...
	Arab Bank, Account No. 9020-415410-700 (JOD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 17...
	Arab Bank, Account No. 9020-415410-500 (JOD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 17...
	Arab Bank, Account No. 9020-415410-510 (USD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 17...
	Arab Bank, Account No. 9020-415410-570 (ILS) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on September 17...
	Arab Bank, Nablus Branch, Account No. 9020-415410-710 (USD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) ...
	Cairo Aman Bank, Account No. 001 0001629 012123 833 (JOD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) on...
	Cairo Aman Bank, Account No. 001 0001629 03 2123 833 (USD) – This was Mohammad Hamed’s bank account.  As he is no longer living, we are unable to ask him what happened to the account, if the account was closed and the balance of the account (if any) o...
	Cairo Aman Bank, Account No. 02501171878 00 (USD) – This account is in Wally Hamed’s name.  However, this account was used in the money laundering scheme for the Plaza Extra stores that was the subject of the 2001 FBI raid and on the stores and the su...
	Banque Francaise Commerciale, Account No. 40-60-63878-90 – This account is in Wally Hamed’s name.  However, this account was used in the money laundering scheme for the Plaza Extra stores that was the subject of the 2001 FBI raid and on the stores and...
	Banque Francaise Commerciale, Account No. 40-60-63878-91 – This account is in Wally Hamed’s name.  However, this account was used in the money laundering scheme for the Plaza Extra stores that was the subject of the 2001 FBI raid and on the stores and...
	Hamed Response:  This case arose over a dispute as to whether the three Plaza Extra supermarkets (two on St. Croix and one on St. Thomas) were owned by United Corporation (owned by Fathi Yusuf's family) or by a partnership consisting of Fathi Yusuf an...
	When the Plaza West store was transferred, he signed an order transferring that store "free and clear of any claims of Yusuf," quoting from Judge Brady's January 7, 2015, Wind Up Order. Thus, it has already been determined by the January Order (as in...
	Second, even if such a claim survived, it would have no value, as the Plaza West store had no lease, and hence, nothing to sell, other than its inventory and equipment, which was sold with the transfer order. Notwithstanding this fact, Yusuf obtained...
	However, this assumption is false, as there was never a lease for the Plaza West store, as Yusuf conceded in his pleadings in this case. In this regard, when Yusuf filed his proposed liquidation plan, he admitted to the Court that the West store coul...
	Also, this Yusuf claim is the subject of a pending motion to strike this claim, which has been fully briefed, which briefs and attached exhibits are all incorporated herein by reference.
	Dated: May 15, 2018    A
	Joel H. Holt, Esq. (Bar #6)
	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
	Hon. Edgar Ross
	Special Master
	Gregory H. Hodges
	Stefan Herpel
	Charlotte Perrell
	Law House, 10000 Frederiksberg Gade
	Hamm, Eckard, LLP
	Jeffrey B. C. Moorhead
	CRT Brow Building


